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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 
 
  )  
KEITH PERRY  )  
  )  

Plaintiff  )  
  ) Case No. 4:19-cv-4519 
v.  )  
  ) ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
HARRIS HEALTH SYSTEM  )  
AND RONDELL BAILEY  )  
  )  

Defendants  )  
  )  
 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 
 

I. Parties 

1. Plaintiff, Keith Perry, is an individual that is a citizen of the State of Texas.  

2. Defendant, Harris Health System ("Defendant Harris Health"), a political 

subdivision of the State of Texas, may be served by delivering a copy of the summons and of the 

complaint to the chair of the board of trustees Anne Clutterbuck.  

3. Defendant, Rondell Bailey ("Defendant Bailey"), an individual and a citizen of the 

State of Texas, may be served with process at 1504 Taub Loop, Houston, Texas 77030.  

II. Jurisdiction 

4. The Court has jurisdiction over the lawsuit because the suit arises under the Family 

and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq. Plaintiff was employed as an Education 

Instructor III with defendant, a hospital district and political subdivision of the State of Texas.   

III. Venue 

5. Venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because defendant 

resides in this district. Additionally, venue is proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) 
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because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to this claim occurred in this 

district.  

IV. Conditions Precedent 

6. All conditions precedent have been performed or have occurred. Specifically, 

plaintiff has exercised his administrative rights through the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission.  

V. Count 1 - FMLA 

7. Plaintiff is an eligible employee within the meaning of the FMLA. Plaintiff as 

employed by defendant for at least 12 months and for at least 1,250 hours of service during the 

preceding 12-month period.  

8. Defendant Harris Health is an employer within the meaning of the FMLA, is 

engaged in commerce or in an industry or activity affecting commerce, and employs 50 or more 

employees for each working day during each of 20 or more calendar work weeks in the current or 

preceding calendar year. Defendant Harris Health describes itself as a "fully integrated healthcare 

system" which operates "18 community health centers, five same-day clinics, five school-based 

clinics, three multi-specialty clinic locations, a dental center and dialysis center, mobile health 

units and two full-service hospitals." Defendant Harris Health employs thousands of employees 

within the district, including Defendant Bailey who was plaintiff's supervisor.  

9. Plaintiff was entitled to 12 work weeks of leave during the period of May 2018 

through May 2019 because of a L4 and L5 disk fusion in plaintiff’s spine with rods and screws 

with permanent right leg and right foot radiculopathy with pain, L2 and L3 disk bulging with 

continued pain in plaintiff’s spine, and right eye total vision loss from retrolentrofibroplasia. These 
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are all serious health conditions which involve routine follow up and monitoring. Plaintiff took his 

FMLA leave intermittently as needed to manage and treat his disabilities.  

10. Plaintiff gave defendant such notice as was practicable under unforeseeable 

circumstances before the date leave was to begin.  

11. Defendants intentionally interfered with rights provided under the FMLA by 

refusing to grant plaintiff leave, singling plaintiff out for discipline which was not done with other 

employees in a similar situation, and issuing write-ups and negative performance evaluations to 

plaintiff because plaintiff exercised his rights. Additionally, Defendants intentionally 

discriminated against plaintiff because of plaintiff's exercise of his rights under FMLA.  

12. In June 2017, plaintiff filed the appropriate paperwork to take FMLA leave for the 

birth of his child. Because plaintiff knew he would need the leave, plaintiff wanted to provide 

defendant proper notice. Plaintiff was out on this leave until September 2017.  

13. Upon his return from this FMLA leave, plaintiff began to experience aggressive 

behavior from his supervisor, Rondell Bailey. In particular, Defendant Bailey sent plaintiff several 

rude and inappropriate emails regarding Defendant Bailey's unwritten policies regarding calling 

off work. Additionally, Defendant Bailey shorted plaintiff pay during this period. These two 

incidents culminated in a written write-up for poor job performance.  

14. The disparate treatment plaintiff received from Defendant Bailey continued for 

more than a year. Specifically, plaintiff was verbally reprimanded for following standard 

procedure when handling standby students for Defendant Harris Health's classes. Further, 

Defendant Bailey issued plaintiff directives regarding standby students which no other instructor 

had to follow.  
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15. Because of the physical disabilities described above, plaintiff must routinely see a 

physician for follow up and monitoring. In September 2018, plaintiff noticed a Wednesday on 

which plaintiff was not scheduled to teach. Plaintiff emailed Defendant Bailey to tell him plaintiff 

had scheduled his doctor appointment for that day and would leave work for approximately 3 hours 

to accommodate the appointment. Defendant Bailey told plaintiff he was adding a class to the 

schedule and that moving forward plaintiff had to tell Defendant Bailey in person if plaintiff 

scheduled a doctor's appointment. No other employee had to follow this procedure.  

16. In late September 2018, plaintiff filed the paperwork for FMLA to take intermittent 

leave. Shortly thereafter, plaintiff was walking to his office after teaching a class. As plaintiff 

walked down the hall, Defendant Bailey, in front of two other co-workers, asked if plaintiff would 

be at work on Monday because he had received the FMLA paperwork stating plaintiff would not 

be. Plaintiff told Defendant Bailey it was a mistake and plaintiff would teach the class that Monday. 

Plaintiff found out later that Defendant Bailey had discussed his FMLA leave with another co-

worker.  

17. After plaintiff returned to work, plaintiff was scheduled to teach a Pediatric 

Advanced Life Support ("PALS") class on October 23, 2018 beginning at 7:30 a.m. His supervisor, 

Rondell Bailey, sent a group email which included plaintiff and several co-workers at 8:40 a.m. In 

the email, Defendant Bailey said his co-workers needed books for a class at LBJ hospital and 

instructed plaintiff to deliver them to LBJ if the Harris Health transportation department could not 

deliver them by 1 p.m. Because of the class, plaintiff did not read the email until approximately 

12:30 p.m. plaintiff asked two other co-workers to ask transportation to deliver the books. After 

getting his lunch, plaintiff asked one co-worker what the status with transportation was regarding 

the books. She informed plaintiff they would be delivered at approximately 2:30 p.m.  
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18. Because of a prior experience, plaintiff was under the belief that transporting 

equipment or supplies in a personal vehicle was not covered under a personal insurance policy. 

Defendant Bailey pulled plaintiff out of his class while plaintiff was testing the students to discuss 

the book situation. plaintiff informed Defendant Bailey of the time at which plaintiff saw his email, 

his decision to contact transportation, and his unwillingness to haul the books in his personal 

vehicle. Defendant Bailey became very agitated and told plaintiff he did not care about his 

insurance or its requirements.  

19. On October 29, 2018 Defendant Bailey issued plaintiff a written write up for 

insubordination related to the book issue. Many other classes have been conducted without books. 

Further, no one else has been disciplined for failure to have books in a class.  

20. On May 3, 2019, plaintiff received his annual performance evaluation for 2018. It 

was the lowest rating plaintiff have received in his almost 11 years employed with Defendant 

Harris Health. Because of this low rating, his annual pay raise was affected.  

21. On March 6, 2019, plaintiff requested paid time off ("PTO") for the period between 

September 18 and September 20, 2019. His brother had asked plaintiff to be the best man in his 

wedding which was being conducted outside of the United States. In anticipation of this trip, 

plaintiff purchased airfare and a hotel room. On May 21 and May 22, 2019, plaintiff requested and 

took FMLA leave. On May 24, 2019, Defendant Bailey denied his PTO request stating that there 

were too many classes scheduled for that time period – almost four months away. The only class 

listed on the online schedule was the Bridge to 2020 class.  

22. Plaintiff has applied to several jobs within Defendant Harris Health for which 

plaintiff is qualified. Plaintiff was never interviewed for any of those positions. 
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VI. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies 

23. Plaintiff timely filed a charge of discrimination against Defendant Harris Health 

with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC"). Plaintiff files this complain 

within 90 days after receiving the notice of the right to sue from the EEOC. A copy of the notice 

of the right to sue is attached as Exhibit A.  

VII. Count 2 - Americans with Disabilities Act 

24. Plaintiff incorporates the facts above in Paragraphs 7 through 22 by reference.  

25. Plaintiff is disabled, as defined by the Americans with Disabilities Act ("ADA"). 

As mentioned above, Plaintiff has a L4 and L5 disk fusion in plaintiff’s spine with rods and screws 

with permanent right leg and right foot radiculopathy with pain, L2 and L3 disk bulging with 

continued pain in plaintiff’s spine, and right eye total vision loss from retrolentrofibroplasia. 

Plaintiff is otherwise qualified to perform the essential functions of a healthcare instructor.  

26. Plaintiff is an employee within the meaning of the ADA.  

27. Defendant Harris Health is an employer within the meaning of the ADA, is engaged 

in an industry affecting commerce, and has 15 or more employees for each working day in each of 

20 or more calendar weeks in the current or preceding calendar year.  

28. Defendants violated the ADA by intentionally discriminating against plaintiff on 

the basis of his disability. Defendants' discriminatory acts including singling plaintiff out for 

discipline which was not done with other employees in a similar situation, and issuing write-ups 

and negative performance evaluations to plaintiff because plaintiff exercised his rights. 

VIII. Damages 

29. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant's conduct, Plaintiff suffered the 

following injuries and damages: 
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a. Plaintiff was denied a promotion, resulting in lost pay and benefits. 

b. Plaintiff was denied other lateral positions, resulting in lost pay and benefits.  

c. Plaintiff was constructively discharged from employment with Defendant 

Harris Health. Plaintiff has incurred expenses in seeking other employment.  

d. Plaintiff seeks compensation for all lost wages and benefits, including loss of 

Social Security benefits. Reinstatement of plaintiff in his previous position is 

impractical and unworkable. Therefore, plaintiff seeks an award of front pay 

and retirement benefits to compensate him.  

e. Defendant did not act in good faith and did not have a reasonable belief that its 

conduct was not a violation of 29 U.S.C. §2615. Therefore, plaintiff is entitled 

to an award of liquidated damages within the meaning of the FMLA.  

IX. Attorney Fees & Costs 

30. Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs under the FMLA. 

Additionally, plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. §12205.  

X. Demand for Jury Trial 

31. Plaintiff asserts his rights under the Seventh Amendment to the U.S. Constitution 

and demands, in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, a trial by jury on all issues.  

XI. Prayer 

32. For these reasons, plaintiff asks for judgment against defendants for the following: 

a. Back pay. 

b. Front pay.  

c. Compensatory damages. 

d. Liquidated damages. 
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e. Prejudgment interest on lost wages and benefits and postjudgment interest on 

all sums, including attorney fees. 

f. Reasonable attorney fees. 

g. Costs of suit. 

h. All other relief the Court deems appropriate.  

Respectfully submitted,  
 
MARK SMITH LAW, PLLC 
 
By:    /s/ J. Mark Smith              

J. Mark Smith 
Attorney in Charge 
Texas Bar No. 24010405 
2929 Allen Parkway 
Suite 3450 
Houston, TX 77019 
mark@jmsmithlaw.com 
(713) 237-1221 Main 
(832) 553-2856 Fax 

 
ATTORNEY IN CHARGE FOR 
PLAINTIFF 
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